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Notes and news 

Autumn Event: Maps for the Local Historian. Stephen 
Coleman (Historic Environment Information Officer, Cen-
tral Beds Council) will present this event on Saturday 20 
October 2012 at Colmworth Village Hall, commencing at 
10am (doors open 9.45am). The morning session intro-
duces the wealth of maps available in Bedfordshire for the 
study of local history, whether researching a single house, 
historic place, village or whole parish. The full range of 
Ordnance Survey maps of various scales will be discussed, 
especially 19th century, and also historic town plans and 
estate, Tithe and Enclosure maps. Participants will learn 
what information can be derived from these, including 
ownership, fieldnames, boundary details, informative field 
patterns, past land use and evidence for landscape change, 
and will also have the opportunity to practise their inter-
pretative skills using copies of historic maps. How maps can 
mislead and some of the other pitfalls which await the 
unwary will also be discussed. A list of useful publications 
will be provided and some will be available for viewing. 
Lunch Break: 12.30 to 1.30 in the hall (please bring a 

packed lunch), tea and coffee will be available at lunch time. 
After lunch (weather permitting) we will visit the nearby 

village and countryside to compare historic maps with what 
can be seen today. We will identify encroachments, lost 
greens and changes to the road pattern and put fieldnames 
into their landscape context as archaeological and past land 
use indicators. We will also view the impact of parlia-
mentary Enclosure and see how different field patterns 
apparent on maps are reflected in the countryside and can 
assist the study of hedgerow history. 

We expect to finish by about 3pm. We will not be 
returning to the hall after 1.30pm. Therefore, all possessions 
should be removed at this stage. At the end of the event, the 
church and its toilets will be open. 
Further information from Stephen Coleman on 01234 

297539 (evenings). 
The fee will be £10 per delegate: as numbers are limited 

please book early. Bookings to Mike Turner, 117 High 
Street, Clophill, Beds, MK45 4BJ. Cheques payable to 
‘Bedfordshire Local History Association’. 

Woad. Mrs S Adkinson writes: ‘I am tracing the 
Partridge family. My ancestor John Partridge, who said he 
was born in Grafton Underwood, married into the Woad 
family of Meacocks in Barton Seagrave in 1800. At the time 
of his marriage he got a “Woad Licence” called a “Woad 1”. 
Is any member tracing this family or has heard of a “Woad 

1”?’ If you can help, contact Mrs Adkinson at 61 Conifer 
Rise, Westone, Northampton NN3 3JY. 

New books: Willington Local History Group has 
published Willington and the Russells, by Robert Bollington, 
telling the story of Willington from 1774 to 1902, when it 
formed part of the Duke of Bedford’s estates. The book 
shows how the Dukes of Bedford and their agents 
transformed Willington: bringing about changes in 
farming, building new farms and cottages, restoring the 
Church and building the school. Copies from Chairman, 
WLHG, 2 Beauchamp Place, Willington, Bedford MK44 
3QA. Tel: 01234 838484. Copies can be collected by 
arrangement for £4 each or an additional £1.25 for p & p. 
Cheques payable to Willington Local History Group. 
How Bedfordshire Voted, 1735–1784 by James Collett-

White, is Vol 3 of the series published for the Bedfordshire 
Historical Record Society by Boydell & Brewer, PO Box 9, 
Woodbridge, Suffolk IP12 3DF, tel 01394 610600; e-mail 
trading@boydell.co.uk; web www.boydellandbrewer.com. 
There is a 25% discount on presentation of code 12151. It 
reduces the price from £25 to £18.75 and also applies to 
Vol 1 (1685–1715) and Vol 2 (1716–1735). We hope to 
review Vol 3 in the next issue. 
‘A Little Older than our Teeth’: Langford Methodist Church, 

c1835–2012, by Jim Broadbridge, is a selective history of the 
Church’s first 177 years. Copies from the author at 25 
Cambridge Way, Langford, SG18 9SG, tel 01462 701127, 
price £4, plus £1.25 for p & p. Cheques payable to Lang-
ford Methodist Church. 

 
The Zeebrugge Raid – Part 1 
 
Zeebrugge was an outlet for German U-boats and 
destroyers based up the canal at Bruges, and so the 
British raided the port in 1918. Included in the raid-
ing party was a Royal Marine from Bedford, Charles 
Knight, of whom we shall learn more in Part 2. 

German U-boats and destroyers were a serious 
threat to Allied shipping, especially in the English 
Channel. The British planned to sink three old 
cruisers, Iphegenia, Intrepid and Thetis, in the channel 
to block it. These would have to pass a long harbour 
mole, with a battery at the end, before they were 
scuttled. It was decided to storm the mole using 
another old cruiser, HMS Vindictive, and two Mersey 
ferries, Daffodil and Iris II, modified as assault vessels. 
Two old submarines were to be used as explosive 
charges, under the viaduct connecting the mole to the 
shore. The force to be used was composed of 75 
volunteer ships and 200 marines.  

The raid, first proposed in 1917 by Sir John 
Jellicoe, was not authorised until Commodore Sir 
Roger Keyes1 made a plan for the operation. It was 
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approved by the Admiralty in February and took 
place in April 1918. 

The cruisers to be used in the blockade (which 
included HMS Vindictive) were equipped in Chatham. 
The obsolete cruisers Intrepid, Iphigenia and Thetis, 
built in 1890–1894, were filled with 1,500 tons of 
concrete and electrically fired explosive charges. 
2,000 workers were used for the fitting-out, and 
stripping-out of all unnecessary equipment, including 
masts. Iris, Daffodil2 and the submarines were fitted 
out in Portsmouth.  

The fleet rendezvous was at Swin Deep about 8 
miles (7.0 nautical miles or 13 km) south of Clacton. 
Most of the participants were unaware of their target. 
The first opportunity for the raid was early April 
1918, and on 2 April, an attempt was made but was 
unsuccessful due to a change in wind direction 
blowing away the smokescreens.  

The second raid commenced on the night of 22–
23 April, commanded by Commodore Roger Keyes. 
There was a small armada: 8 monitors, 6 old cruisers, 
8 light cruisers, 52 destroyers, 62 motor launches, 24 
coastal motor boats, 2 submarines, 2 ferry boats and 1 
picket boat. The flotilla of fast motor launches had to 
lay smokescreens, rescue the crews from the block 
ships and the destroyed submarines and ferry them 
to destroyers waiting outside the harbour. 

The attack began with a diversion against the mile-
long mole. The attack was led by HMS Vindictive, 
Daffodil and Iris II. The three ships were accompanied 
by the two old submarines. Vindictive was to land a 
force of 200 Royal Marines at the entrance to the 
Bruges Canal. 

Initially smoke completely hid the British ships 
but the wind changed and the smoke cleared: heavy 
guns instantly opened fire. The marines, who had to 
destroy German gun positions, immediately came 
under intense fire and suffered heavy casualties. This 
fire hit the Vindictive which was less than 100 yards 
from the Mole and three senior officers died. 
Vindictive was forced to land at the wrong place, 
losing the support of the heavy guns for the marines. 
She arrived alongside the Mole at one minute past 
midnight on 23 April, St George’s Day, but had 
difficulty holding her position. The Daffodil’s captain, 
Lt-Commander Harold Campbell, manoeuvred her 
into a position from which he could push the cruiser 
back against the Mole with the ferry’s bow so troops 
could disembark. Two German shells exploded in 
Daffodil’s engine room but her engineers managed to 
keep full steam but holding the Vindictive in did not 
allow the assault team on board Daffodil to climb 
across the cruiser to get on to the Mole and none of 
them took part in the raid. Iris came alongside the 
Mole, in front of Vindictive. She had difficulty staying 
close to the harbour wall and was in danger of 
drifting away. Iris, now under heavy fire, hid behind 
Vindictive. A shell exploded below decks where 
marines were waiting and killed 49 of them and 
wounded seven. The Iris’s total casualties were eight 
officers and 69 men killed and three officers and 102 
men wounded.  

Some raiding parties got ashore and fought their 
way along the Mole drawing the fire of every German 

gun within range. Fifteen minutes into the raid the 
first block ship, Thetis, passed the end of the Mole but 
she did not reach the canal entrance. Repeatedly hit, 
and with her own gunners blinded by smoke, she 
failed to make the lock gates and had to be prema-
turely scuttled. Intrepid following her was successfully 
sunk on the western bank of the canal entrance, while 
the Iphigenia was scuttled to close the gap.  

Above the sound of the battle the assault troops 
heard an enormous explosion. Submarine C3 had 
manoeuvred itself under the viaduct joining the Mole 
to the mainland and a few minutes after her crew had 
escaped she exploded, destroying the viaduct and 
preventing the German troops on the Mole from 
being reinforced. The submarines C1 (under Lt A C 
Newbold) and C3 (under Lt R D Sandford) each had 
a volunteer crew of one other officer and four ratings. 
They each had five tons of amatol packed into their 
fore-ends. Sandford was awarded the Victoria Cross.3 
On passage from Dover, C1 parted with her tow and 
consequently arrived too late to take part in the 
operation. 

At 1:10am they heard the Morse code ‘K’ sign on 
the Daffodil’s siren, indicating that the block ships 
were in position and the troops should withdraw.4  

Within 20 minutes the embarkation was complete 
but the force still came under intense fire. Iris was hit 
12 times as she made her departure, with heavy loss 
of life among the men packed on board. They limped 
home to a heroes’ welcome and although the raid 
proved to be only a partial success it provided a much 
needed boost to British morale.   (To be continued) 

 
Notes 

1. Vice-Admiral Roger John Brownlow Keyes, (Baron Keyes of 
Zeebrugge and Dover), Bt, GCB, KCVO, CMG, DSO, RN (1872–1945). His 
service life also included 19th-century African anti-slavery patrols 
and Allied landings in Leyte in the Second World War. He was 
regarded as one of the great military heroes of his day. 

2. The ferries were commandeered to act as troop carriers 
because of their large carrying capacity and shallow draught 
allowing them to sail over minefields and navigate shallow waters. 
Double hulls made them hard to sink and they were built to 
withstand constant bumping into quaysides. Their disappearance 
from the Mersey was explained by saying they were collecting 
American troops to join the war effort. 

3. Richard Douglas Sandford, VC, RN (1891–1918). Sandford 
died of typhoid fever at Eston Hospital, North Yorkshire, 12 days 
after the signing of the Armistice, and the day after his last 
command, HMS G11, had been wrecked on rocks off Howick, 
Northumberland; his VC is at the Royal Naval College, Dartmouth. 

4. The signal should have been made by the Vindictive but 
German shellfire had destroyed much of her superstructure, 
including her siren and most of her funnel.  TED MARTIN  

 
The Brooks family of Flitwick – 
review article1 
This book tells the story of the Brooks – gentry at the heart 
of Bedfordshire and Flitwick village life – from the mid-
18th century to 1934. Using their diaries, letters, sketches 
and photos Richard Morgan, a regular contributor to HIB, 
has reconstructed their lives.  

This is a sumptuous publication, produced on behalf of 
the author. Published in a numbered and strictly limited 
edition of 150 copies, it is in a quarto format (270 x 
210mm), with 259 printed text pages, an additional 16 
pages of illustrations, and is case-bound with a dust jacket. 
A good coated paper is used and the flatback cased binding 
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is in real red bookcloth, blocked in gold on the front and 
spine. The jacket has an interesting and unusual design but 
to my mind is slightly dull on the front, though colour is 
used on the back. 

We have to ask whether bringing the history of the 
Bedfordshire Brookses to the public is best served by this 
type of publication, rather than a cheaper and more 
accessible production. Of course, the size of the market 
(and thus the number of copies to print) determines this 
decision – we hope Richard’s view is the correct one. 

Typesetting is from the author’s PC and does not allow 
for too many typographical niceties, but it is neat and tidy 
and free from misprints. The line on a page as wide as this 
for ease of reading should not usually be wider than 15cm: 
this line is 17cm, but the lines are quite well spaced. 

The book is a readable academic treatise with the text 
fully supported by extensive footnotes at the foot of the 
page, rather than endnotes at the end of the book (which 
are inconvenient, and usually ignored). 

The title pages have a detailed contents, list of 
illustrations (detailing the 27 illustrations in the book), a list 
of abbreviations which is combined with a general 
bibliography, and tables of law cases and statutes. 

The text has five Parts and contains 11 chapters. The 
first chapter, numbered ‘0’ (‘The Dark Ages – Flitwick 
Manor to 1764’), results from the author finding the early 
records of Flitwick Manor confused and fragmentary and 
having no clear account until 1764. The line is traced from 
the medieval de Fletwyk family through Dunstable Priory 
and after alienation by the Crown through the successive 
families of Blofeld (c1550–1668), Rhodes (1668–1735), to 
Dr Dell (1735–64), who died probably unmarried and left 
Flitwick to his goddaughter, Ann Fisher. In 1778 Ann 
married James Hesse, who died in 1783, and then George 
Brooks in 1789 (see HIB, Vol 5, Nos 6 and 7). Chapter 1 
follows on from Dr Dell telling of the ‘Ancien Régime – 
Flitwick Manor 1764–89’: the Fisher family from 1764–68 
and the Hesse family from 1778–89. 

The origins of the Brooks family are traced in Chapter 
2, ‘The Uses of Patronage 1660–1789’. From fairly humble 
origins in Boxford, Suffolk, the brothers John and George 
Brooks were presented to Christ’s Hospital school by, 
among others, Bishop Johnson, who had a connection with 
them, and later, for George, the Bishop of Durham, for 
whom he worked. George Brooks later became a barrister 
and banker in London. George Brooks’ first wife, Ann, died 
in 1784 and he married Ann Hesse in 1789 and thus the 
Brookses came to Bedfordshire. George’s brother, Captain 
John Brooks, RN, came to live at Biddenham and owned 
over 200 acres. His daughter, Elizabeth, married William 
Moore at Biddenham in 1811; he died in 1823 and she 
married William Golding in 1825, giving rise to a tailpiece 
to this chapter on the Moores and the Goldings. 

‘Getting and Spending 1789–1836’ is the title of Part II 
and Chapter 3 is about ‘George Brooks in London and 
Bedfordshire 1789–1817’. He had inherited Flitwick 
Manor, but let it out. He kept a close eye on the estates but 
continued to live in London, in some state in Twickenham, 
and, in 1806, initiated enclosure of the village. George and 
John became governors of Christ’s Hospital in 1786 and 
George used his influence to get both his sons, John and 
Tom, into Christ Church, Oxford, John becoming a 
barrister. Tom went for a Cornetcy in the 14th Dragoons in 
1815 but, in the same year, left the army. On Tom’s 
marriage in 1816 George settled Flitwick Manor (although 
it was still let) plus land in Flitwick, Maulden and Higham 
Gobion on Tom. The author devotes a section to the 
tenants of Flitwick Manor at this time and George took in 
hand the accounts of the estate. George, although in 
London, became High Sheriff of Bedfordshire in 1796, his 

son and grandson would follow him in this. The author also 
recounts the fortunes of the Hesse daughters from the first 
marriage of George’s wife. The stories of the Maulden 
Enclosure, led by the Duke of Bedford and not completed 
until 1803, and the Flitwick Enclosure, which was 
completed in 1807, are told as are the disturbances at 
Flitton in 1772, relating to the Maulden enclosure. 

At the age of 72, George wrote a long letter to his son 
Tom, giving his views on religion and morality and most of 
this is printed. George’s politics are discussed: he would 
seem to have been a floating voter but did help in a 
successful campaign to elect John Osborn as an inde-
pendent (i.e., against the Duke of Bedford) member for the 
county in 1794. George Brooks died on 3 April 1817 and 
extracts from his will, and the family bible, plus his 
memorial in Stoke Poges church are reproduced. George’s 
widow, Ann, died in 1 January 1834 and was buried in the 
Maulden vault with her first husband and infant children. 

Chapter 4 covers ‘The Model Estate 1816–36’. The 
manor house before Tom Brooks is described and also from 
when Tom took over in 1816, as are the improvements he 
made – a music room with an organ of 448 pipes and a 
further 175 swell pipes; a mainly natural history museum; 
an armoury and plant houses. A kitchen garden was created 
in 1818 and a Prospect Tower in 1825. The road which ran 
between the house and the church was diverted to the 
north of the church and the old road to Westoning which 
was closed in 1808 by the enclosure became a grand avenue 
of Chestnut trees most of which still survive. There is much 
on the lodges, gardens, including a botanic garden, and 
produce. Improvement costs are looked at and Tom’s 
accounts for 1836 are reproduced and examined. There are 
sections on the costs of capital work from 1825–32, and the 
Flitwick Riot of 6 December 1830, related to the earlier 
national ‘Captain Swing’ disturbances. Indoors and out-
doors servants and methods of travelling are considered. 
The comments of visitors to the estate are recounted and 
there is a tailpiece on the Brooks arms – never authorised 
by the College of Heralds. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Croquet at Flitwick Manor in the late 1870s 

Part III is ‘The Old Squire and The Young Squire 
1822–85’, and Chapter 5, ‘The Old Squire at Home 1822–
58’ details the lives of Tom’s children for all of whom he 
tried to provide a good education. Mary Ann (1822–48) 
unfortunately died at the age of 26. Like her father she was 
very interested in botany and did good work in the 
community. Johnnie’s life from 1824 to 1843 is told. He 
went to Rugby under Dr Arnold and then studied for a 
commission in the 1st Bengal Light Cavalry, leaving for 
India in February 1843. George was intended for the law 
and from 1839 went to Doctors’ Commons to be 
matriculated as a proctor in ecclesiastical law which he 
achieved in 1848 and he married in 1853. Willie went up to 
Christ Church, Oxford, in 1844 and was ordained in 1852 
from whence his father set about buying the living at 
Flitwick for him. Tom raised £2,850 for the purchase and 
Willie became the vicar in 1855. By the end of his life Tom, 
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‘by a mixture of tenacity, patronage and cash – got all three 
sons into good professions’.  

Social life is covered, showing the family’s interest in 
drawing and painting, dancing and balls. Tom had no 
interest in the magistracy but enthusiasm for the new Poor 
Law by serving on the Board of Guardians for Ampthill. 
His use of his right of presentation as a governor of Christ’s 
Hospital and his views on religion and relations with Mr 
Dawson, vicar of Flitwick, are related as are Tom’s politics 
(Conservative), and his financial help for a Flitwick school. 

At this point there is a 16-page illustrations section, 
consisting mainly of portraits of family members, some in 
colour, but most in monochrome. There are intriguing 
pictures of the manor in the 1770s and the 1850s and of 
Flitwick Church End, the Green and the blacksmith’s shop. 

Chapter 6, ‘Between Two Squires 1858–63’ tells us of 
Johnnie’s first meeting with and marriage to Sophie Cloete 
in the Cathedral in Calcutta on 23 December 1851 and also 
of the marriage settlement, which left Tom with a 
considerable financial problem. One way out was for Tom 
to settle Flitwick on Johnnie, but Johnnie had to return to 
India so the handover could not take place. The Brookses 
adopted Sophie’s Cloete nieces, Sophie and Cora. Tom 
Brooks died on 22 December 1858 while Johnnie was in 
India and in the meantime Tom’s widow, Mary Brooks, 
took over. The transfer of the estate to Johnnie and his 
leaving the Indian Army (he had to return to India to do 
so) took five years but by May 1863 all was settled and he 
assumed his duties. The marriage settlement took longer 
and it is unclear if it was ever resolved. 

Chapter 7, ‘The Young Squire at Home 1863–1885’, 
tells of his love of amateur dramatics both for friends and 
the village. Johnnie liked Turkish baths and went to them 
in London, and, amazingly, in Maulden, and in India and 
in Cairo. A freemason in India, he lapsed until the creation 
of Ampthill Lodge in 1894. He served on the Ampthill 
Bench from 1863–1905, when he was 83, and joined the 
Board of Guardians in 1872. In 1860 Johnnie became the 
Captain of the 5th Bedfordshire (Ampthill) Company Rifle 
Volunteers and he was an ‘indefatigable’ Vicar’s church-
warden and provided land to extend the churchyard. His 
interest in the village schools was ‘hands on’. 

Part IV concerns ‘Three Improvident Clergymen 1803–
1908’ and Chapter 8 deals with them. The Reverend 
George William Brooks, 1803–71, was the second son of 
John Brooks, the banker, and grandson of George Brooks. 
Educated at Westminster School and Christ Church, 
Oxford, in 1827 he became rector of Great Kimble and 
Great Hampden in Buckinghamshire. There is much on 
the state of the parish and investigations into the alleged 
grave of John Hampden in the church. In 1839 he 
transferred his parish to the Rev Charles Lloyd, because he 
was in debt. By 1844 he had followed the well-worn trail of 
indigent Englishmen to Boulogne-sur-Mer, in France, to 
live cheaply, becoming the priest in charge of the Upper 
Town Chapel until 1849. He died at Scarborough in 1871.  

Thomas William Dell Brooks (Willie) (1828–1908) was 
born at Flitwick, the son of Tom Brooks. He married his 
cousin, Harriette, elder daughter of the Rev G W Brooks 
(above), and became a very modern vicar of Flitwick. He 
restored the church in 1857 and 1867 and this and other 
innovations are described. The brothers Johnnie (lord of 
the manor) and the vicar got on, but their wives disliked 
one another, leading to disagreement. The vicar got into 
debt, like his father-in-law, and, like him, was able, in 1880, 
to move to Great Hampden where, as rector, he put in 
hand the restoration of the church in 1881 and 1884 and 
helped to provide an infants’ school in 1886. He stayed 
until 1896 and then returned to Flitwick, finally removing 
to Bedford where died in 1908. 

The third improvident clergyman was Thomas Beach 
Whitehurst (1800–80), Tom Brooks’ brother-in-law, having 
married Jane Hatfield, the sister of Tom’s wife, Mary. He 
was curate at Sundon and Minister at Streatley until 1836 
but by 1840 was living in Ampthill, not undertaking any 
parish work but was a magistrate. In 1853 he moved to 
Leamington Spa. His daughter’s husband tried to recoup 
money from a family trust which Whitehurst had 
embezzled. The matter ended in Chancery, but the final 
result is not known. At age 70 Whitehurst took up parish 
work again. He died in 1880. 

Part V covers the twilight years of the Brookses, 1853–
1934 and, in Chapter 9, scandals surrounding George 
Henry Brooks and Jack Brooks (1859–1919), who had an 
affair with the former’s second wife (his aunt), which went 
through the courts in 1891. But 10 years later he married 
an ineligible village girl. May Brooks (1862–1926), Jack’s 
sister, had an unhappy marriage, and eventually eloped 
with one of Jack’s friends. Alice Jane (Tiny) Brooks (1864–
1943) also married badly spending her retirement booking 
into European hotels and ‘doing a runner’ when the bills 
had to be paid. These scandals decided Johnnie and his 
daughter Kate that the Manor should not be left to George 
and Willie’s branches of the family.  

There is a Tailpiece to Chapter 9 on J W Brooks and 
the Flitwick Artists. 

Chapter 10 covers Kate and the end of the Flitwick 
Brookses, 1885–1934. Kate and Minnie were Johnnie’s 
daughters. Minnie married in 1884 Edgar Francis Jenkins 
but within a year died of kidney disease with her unborn 
child. Johnnie’s wife Sophie died in 1897 and Johnnie in 
1907. Kate, unmarried, ran the estate from about 1905 and 
her good works in the village are described. The poor state 
of repair of the manor house and the value of the estate up 
to Kate’s death in 1934 are detailed.  

The epilogue tells of events after Kate left the estate to 
her cousin Colonel Robert Lyall who broke the entail and 
acquired the freehold. After his death (in 1948) the Lyall 
family put the manor up for sale in 1953.2  

Brooks, Hatfield and Cloete, Golding and Moore pedi-
grees and those of the patrons: Cuthbert, Johnson, Dur-
ham; Trevor, Hampden, Hobart; and Egerton finish the 
book, followed by a comprehensive Index. 

This book is an immensely satisfying chronicle of a 
Bedfordshire manor and family over most of two centuries 
and with its wealth of minutely researched detail makes 
them and their lives, their home and their personalities 
come alive in the reader’s mind: highly recommended. 

TED MARTIN 

Notes 
1. Life Runneth as The Brooks: The Brooks Family in Bedfordshire, by 

Richard Morgan. Hardback. ISBN: 978–1904289–71–5. (Pagoda 
Tree Press, 4 Malvern Buildings, Fairfield Park, Bath BA1 6JX. 
Tel/Fax: 01225 463552. E-mail:sales@pagodatreepress.com). £60, 
plus postage at cost. 

2. It passed through a number of owners until converted into a 
hotel in the 1980s. The adjacent land did not sell in 1953 and was 
sold for housing some years later. The main park was purchased by 
Flitwick Council in 2004 to be a recreational space. 
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